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AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION FOR CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, Robert Erwin, being sworn, depose and state as follows: 

1. I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) and have 

been so employed since 2011.  I am currently assigned to the Boston Field Office’s Public 

Corruption Squad. I have received training and have personally participated in numerous 

investigative techniques related to various offenses against the United States, to include consensual 

monitoring, confidential informants, and court ordered electronic surveillance, to include Title III 

interception of wire communications. My investigations have also included the use of surveillance 

techniques and the execution of search, seizure, and arrest warrants. 

2. I submit this affidavit in support of a criminal complaint charging Tucker 

Cockerline (“COCKERLINE”), Keenan Saniatan (“SANIATAN”) and Michael Waselchuck 

(“WASELCHUCK”) with conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States, to wit, 

stalking through interstate travel (18 U.S.C. § 2261A), in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 371 (the “Target Offense”). 

3. Based on my training and experience and the facts set forth in this affidavit, there 

is probable cause to believe that COCKERLINE, SANIATAN, and WASELCHUCK conspired 

with each other and with at least one other person, identified below as “Subject 2,” to harass and 

intimidate two New Hampshire Public Radio (“NHPR”) employees—a journalist (“Victim 1”) and 

a senior editor (“Victim 2”)—in retaliation for a news story that NHPR published in March 2022 

detailing allegations of sexual misconduct by a former New Hampshire businessperson and close, 

personal associate of Subject 2.  The harassment and intimidation of the victims occurred in April 

2022 and again in May 2022.  It involved the vandalism of the Victim 2’s home, Victim 1’s home, 

and two other homes associated with Victim 1 (including Victim 1’s parents’ home) with bricks, 

rocks, and red spray paint. 
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4. The facts described in this affidavit come from my observations and review of 

records, my training and experience, information obtained from other law enforcement personnel, 

and information obtained through interviews of witnesses, legal process, court orders, and search 

warrants.  This affidavit is intended only to show that there is sufficient probable cause for the 

requested complaint and arrest warrants and does not set forth all my knowledge about this matter. 

THE STATUTES 

5. Title 18, United States Code, Section 2261A, the interstate stalking statute, 

provides in pertinent part: 

Whoever— 

(1) travels in interstate or foreign commerce … with the intent to kill, injure, harass, 
intimidate … another person, and in the course of, or as a result of, such travel 
… engages in conduct that—… 

 
(B) causes, attempts to cause, or would be reasonably expected to cause 

substantial emotional distress to [that person; an immediate family 
member of that person; or a spouse or intimate partner of that 
person] 

commits a felony punishable by up to five years in prison and a $250,000 fine.  18 U.S.C. 

§ 2261(b)(5). 

6. Under Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, if two or more persons conspire 

to commit any offense against the United States, including interstate stalking, and one or more of 

such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each commits a felony punishable 

by five years in prison and a $250,000 fine. 
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FACTS SUPPORTING PROBABLE CAUSE 

The Vandalisms 

7. Victim 1 is a journalist employed by NHPR who, at all times relevant to this 

affidavit, lived in Melrose, Massachusetts.  Between 2021 and 2022, as part of Victim 1’s duties 

and responsibilities at NHPR, Victim 1 investigated reports of sexual harassment and other sexual 

misconduct by a prominent former New Hampshire businessperson (hereinafter, “Subject 1”).  In 

March 2022, at the conclusion of Victim 1’s investigation, NHPR published an article (the 

“Article”) detailing Victim 1’s findings including, among other things, various allegations of 

sexual misconduct by Subject 1.  Victim 2, a senior editor at NHPR who lived in Concord, New 

Hampshire, also contributed to the Article, which appeared on NHPR’s public website during and 

after March 2022. 

8. In response to the Article, Subject 1 denied any wrongdoing through Subject 1’s 

legal representatives and threatened to sue NHPR for defamation unless NHPR retracted the 

Article.  Despite Subject 1’s demands, NHPR declined to retract the Article or remove the Article 

from NHPR’s website. 

9. During the evening of April 24, 2022, and/or the early morning hours of April 25, 

2022 — approximately one month after NHPR published the Article — Victim 2’s home and two 

homes associated with Victim 1 were vandalized with bricks and red spray paint: 

a. At approximately 11:00 p.m. on April 24, 2022, a brick was thrown through 

a front exterior window of Victim’s 1’s former residence in Hanover, New 

Hampshire.  The word “CUNT” was spraypainted in large red letters on the 

front door.  The home’s occupants were asleep in the home at the time of 

the incident. 
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b. On the evening of April 24, 2022, or during the early morning hours of April 

25, 2022, the word “CUNT” was spraypainted in large red letters on the 

front door of Victim 2’s home in Concord, New Hampshire.  The exterior 

of the home was also damaged by a large rock, which appeared to have been 

thrown at the house.  Victim 2 did not know Victim 2’s house had been 

vandalized until the following morning, when a neighbor alerted Victim 2 

to the spray paint on Victim 2’s front door. 

c. Shortly before midnight on April 24, 2022, or during the early morning 

hours of April 25, 2022, a softball-sized rock was thrown through a front 

exterior window of Victim 1’s parents’ home in Hampstead, New 

Hampshire.  The word “CUNT” was spraypainted in large red letters on one 

of the garage doors.  Victim 1’s parents were asleep in the home at the time 

of the incident. 

10. After the April vandalisms and continuing until at least May 20, 2022, Subject 1’s 

legal representatives continued to threaten NHPR with a defamation lawsuit unless NHPR 

retracted or materially altered the Article regarding Subject 1.  Those efforts culminated in a 

meeting between representatives of Subject 1 and NHPR on May 20, 2022, during which NHPR 

once again declined to retract the Article or remove it from its website. 

11. The following day, on May 21, 2022, two homes associated with Victim 1 were 

vandalized with bricks and red spray paint: 

a. At approximately 12:54 a.m. on May 21, 2022, Victim 1’s parents’ home in 

Hampstead was vandalized a second time.  The word “CUNT” was 

spraypainted in large red letters on one of the garage doors.  Although no 
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windows were broken, a brick was discovered on the ground near the house’s 

foundation as if it had been thrown at the house.  A security camera installed by 

Victim 1’s parents after the April vandalism captured video of the suspect: a 

male individual wearing a light-colored sweatshirt (the arms of which appear to 

be darker than the torso), a light-colored face covering, light-colored pants with 

darks patches on each knee, and dark colored shoes with a white or light-colored 

logo on the side.  The suspect also appears to be carrying objects in both hands. 

     
Hampstead Suspect 

 
b. At approximately 5:54 a.m. on May 21, 2022, a brick was thrown through 

an exterior window of Victim 1’s house in Melrose, Massachusetts.  The 

phrase “JUST THE BEGINNING” was spraypainted in large red letters on 

the front of the home.  The home’s doorbell camera captured video of the 

suspect: a white male of average height and build wearing a blue raincoat, 
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a blue backpack, and dark gloves.  The suspect appeared to be holding a cell 

phone in his right hand during the incident. 

 
Melrose Suspect 

 
12. Given the apparent connection of all four vandalized homes to Victim 1 or Victim 

2 (both of whom work at NHPR and both of whom contributed to the Article), the relative timing 

of the vandalisms, and the similarities between the vandalisms (all involving either rocks or bricks 

and the use of red spray paint, among other similarities), there is probable cause to believe that all 

five vandalisms are connected.  Furthermore, there is probable cause to believe that the vandalisms 

were retaliatory acts intended to harass and intimidate NHPR and its employees, including Victims 

1 and 2, for publishing the Article concerning Subject 1. 

The Investigation 

Cockerline’s and Saniatan’s Suspicious Google Searches 

13. To investigate the vandalisms, the FBI obtained a warrant to search the records of 

Google for users who, using either Google Search or Google Maps, queried the specific street 

addresses of one or more of the vandalized homes (the “Target Addresses”) on either April 23, 
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April 24, May 20, or May 21, 2022.  The results of that search revealed that two Google users—

identified in Google subscriber records as COCKERLINE and SANIATAN—searched for 

multiple of the Target Addresses during the time period encompassed by the search.  In fact, 

COCKERLINE and SANIATAN combined searched for the street addresses of all five vandalized 

homes, sometimes within hours or even minutes of the homes being vandalized: 

a. First, on April 23, 2022, between approximately 3:01 p.m. and again at 9:10 

p.m., SANIATAN’s account searched multiple times for the address of 

Victim 1’s parents’ home in Hampstead, New Hampshire.  The home at that 

address was vandalized shortly before midnight on April 24, 2022, or during 

the early morning hours of April 25, 2022.  According to Google records, 

an Android operating system associated with a “moto g stylus 5G” phone 

was used to conduct this search.  According to a basic internet search, a 

“moto g stylus 5G” is a type of smart phone manufactured and sold by 

Motorola. 

b. Second, around 11:00 p.m. on April 24, 2022, COCKERLINE’s account 

searched for the street address of Victim 1’s former residence in Hanover, 

New Hampshire, around the same time the home there was vandalized.  

According to Google records, an Android operating system – a popular 

mobile operating system used in a variety of cell phones, including most 

Samsung phones – was used to conduct this search. 

c. Third, at approximately 11:36 p.m. on April 24, 2022, SANIATAN’s 

account searched for the street address of Victim 2’s home in Concord, New 

Hampshire.  The home at that address was vandalized late at night on April 
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24, 2022, or during the early morning hours of April 25, 2022.  According 

to Google records, an Android operating system associated with a “moto g 

stylus 5G” phone was used to conduct this search. 

d. Fourth, between approximately 9:50 p.m. and 11:30 p.m. on May 20, 2022, 

COCKERLINE’s account searched for the street address of Victim 1’s 

parents’ home in Hampstead, New Hampshire.  As noted above, the 

Hampstead residence was again vandalized shortly thereafter, around 12:54 

a.m. on May 21, 2022.  According to Google records, an Android operating 

system was used to conduct this search. 

e. Fifth, between approximately 9:50 p.m. and 11:30 p.m. on May 20, 2022, 

COCKERLINE’s account searched for the street address of Victim 1’s 

home in Melrose, Massachusetts.  That home was vandalized at 

approximately 5:50 a.m. on May 21, 2022.  According to Google records, 

an Android operating system was used to conduct this search. 

 
COCKERLINE’s and SANIATAN’s Suspicious 

Communications with a Known Associate of Subject 1 
 

14. Shortly after May 22, 2022, numerous local and national news publications 

published articles about the vandalisms.  See, e.g., https://www.washingtonpost.com/ 

nation/2022/06/01/new-hampshire-journalist-vandalism-attacks/.   Many of these articles raised 

the possibility that Subject 1 was somehow involved in the vandalisms.   

15. Subject 2 is a New Hampshire resident and close personal associate of Subject 1.  

Subject 2’s cell phone and other communication records obtained in this investigation demonstrate 

that Subject 2 and Subject 1 communicate with each other regularly, including around the time of 
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the vandalisms.  Other records obtained during this investigation, including various financial 

records, indicate that Subject 2 and Subject 1 have had various business and financial dealings 

with each other. 

16. Subject 2’s cellular communication records show that Subject 2 exchanged 

numerous voice calls with both COCKERLINE and SANIATAN in April 2022 in the days 

preceding and the day after the April vandalisms.  The records further show that Subject 2 

exchanged voice calls with COCKERLINE in the days before and after the May vandalisms, and 

that Subject 2 attempted to contact SANIATAN around the same time.  The following is a detailed 

breakdown of these communications: 

COCKERLINE & SUBJECT 2 – APRIL 2022 

Date Time From To Duration Type 

04/22/2022 8:03:47 AM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:10:06 Regular Call 

04/22/2022 3:45:59 PM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:00:03 Regular Call 

04/22/2022 4:55:35 PM Cockerline Subject 2 00:01:04 Regular Call 

April Vandalisms Occur 

04/25/2022 9:31:27 AM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:01:04 Regular Call 

04/25/2022 12:07:50 PM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:00:43 Regular Call 

04/25/2022 12:41:24 PM Cockerline Subject 2 00:00:06 Voicemail 

04/25/2022 12:46:43 PM Cockerline Subject 2 00:00:03 Voicemail 

04/25/2022 12:50:40 PM Cockerline Subject 2 00:00:45 Regular Call 

 

SANIATAN & SUBJECT 2 – APRIL 2022 

Date Time From To Duration Type 

04/21/2022 10:33:35 AM Subject 2 Saniatan 00:01:17 Regular Call 

04/21/2022 5:12:22 PM Subject 2 Saniatan 00:00:37 Regular Call 

04/22/2022 8:52:47 AM Subject 2 Saniatan 00:00:18 Regular Call 

April Vandalisms Occur 

04/25/2022 7:49:25 AM Subject 2 Saniatan 00:01:56 Regular Call 
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COCKERLINE & SUBJECT 2 – MAY 2022 

Date Time From To Duration Type 

05/18/2022 5:49:25 PM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:00:50 Regular Call 

05/18/2022 7:27:37 PM Cockerline Subject 2 00:00:04 Voicemail 

May Vandalisms Occur 

05/22/2022 8:51:33 AM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:00:26 Regular Call 

05/22/2022 9:13:52 AM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:00:48 Regular Call 

05/22/2022 9:42:30 AM Cockerline Subject 2 00:00:07 Voicemail 

05/22/2022 9:43:51 AM Cockerline Subject 2 00:00:05 Voicemail 

05/26/2022 5:50:28 PM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:00:04 Regular Call 

05/26/2022 6:00:28 PM Subject 2 Cockerline 00:00:04 Regular Call 

 

SANIATAN & SUBJECT 2 – MAY 20221 

Date Time From To Duration Type 

05/18/2022 5:50:58 PM Subject 2 Saniatan 00:00:06 Regular Call 

05/18/2022 6:40:17 PM Subject 2 Saniatan 00:00:04 Regular Call 

May Vandalisms Occur 

05/25/2022 7:08:42 PM Subject 2 Saniatan 00:00:05 Regular Call 

 

17. Toll records associated with Subject 2, COCKERLINE, and SANIATAN do not 

suggest that they communicated regularly in and around April and May 2022.  In fact, aside from 

the communications listed above, the toll records reviewed in this investigation do not reflect any 

other communications between Subject 2, COCKERLINE, and SANIATAN during this time.  In 

light of the timing of these calls relative to the vandalisms and the fact that COCKERLINE and 

SANIATAN subsequently searched for the addresses of the vandalized homes using Google, there 

is probable cause to believe these communications concerned the vandalisms. 

 
1 It is unlikely that SANIATAN was able to answer or return these calls because, according to records that 
I have reviewed, SANIATAN was incarcerated in New Hampshire at this time. 
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18. According to records that I have reviewed, COCKERLINE and SANIATAN both 

appear to have known Subject 2 prior to April 2022.  Records from the New Hampshire 

Department of Corrections from 2018, for example, indicate that COCKERLINE and Subject 2 

were incarcerated together.  Likewise, toll records reviewed in this investigation indicate that 

SANIATAN placed a three-and-a-half minute voice call to Subject 2 in February 2022. 

Incriminating Cellular Location Data Associated with COCKERLINE and SANIATAN  
 

19. In order to determine COCKERLINE and SANIATAN’s whereabouts at the time 

of the vandalisms, the FBI obtained cellular location data associated with COCKERLINE’s and 

SANIATAN’s cell phones. 

20. According to that location data, COCKERLINE’s cell phone was in the vicinity of 

the Hanover, New Hampshire residence at approximately 11:00 p.m. on April 24, 2022, around 

the time that home was vandalized.  According to the FBI’s investigation, COCKERLINE lives in 

Salem, New Hampshire, near the Massachusetts border.  Hanover, on the other hand, is located in 

northwestern New Hampshire.  Consistent with COCKERLINE having traveled back and forth to 

Hanover from southern New Hampshire, the location data reflects COCKERLINE’s phone 

traveling north along Interstates 93 and 89 through central and northern New Hampshire, arriving 

in the Hanover area around 11:00 p.m., and then heading south along the same route a short time 

later.  Insofar as COCKERLINE also used Google to search for the address of the vandalized 

Hanover residence at the very same time he was arriving in Hanover, there is probable cause to 

believe that COCKERLINE is responsible for vandalizing the Hanover residence on the evening 

of April 24, 2022. 

21. According to information obtained during this investigation, SANIATAN was 

living in Manchester, New Hampshire, on April 24, 2022.  Location data associated with 
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SANIATAN’s phone obtained via legal process by the FBI, therefore, places SANIATAN’s phone 

in the Manchester area throughout the day on April 24th.  Between approximately 8:35 p.m. and 

11:55 p.m. on April 24th, however, there is no location data placing SANIATAN’s phone in or 

around Manchester.  In fact, the only location data associated with SANIATAN’s phone during 

this time — at 10:56 p.m. — places the phone in Windham, New Hampshire, adjacent to Interstate 

93 and near Route 111.   Hampstead, New Hampshire is located off Route 111, approximately 9 

miles east of Windham.  In order to travel from Manchester to Hampstead — whether via Interstate 

93 or Route 111 — it is necessary to first travel through Windham.  Therefore, the fact that 

SANIATAN’s phone was located in Windham around 11:00 p.m. on April 24th is consistent with 

SANIATAN having traveled to Hampstead that evening.  This, coupled with his suspicious Google 

searches for the address of the Hampstead residence and his contacts with Subject 2 on April 21st, 

establishes probable cause to believe that SANIATAN is responsible for vandalizing the 

Hampstead residence on either April 24 or 25, 2022.2 

Cellular Location Data Places COCKERLINE and WASELCHUCK 
Near the Hampstead and Melrose Crime Scenes on May 21, 2022 

22. According to the cellular location data obtained by the FBI in this investigation, 

COCKERLINE’s cell phone was also in the vicinity of the Hampstead residence between 

approximately 12:45 a.m. and 1:00 a.m. on May 21, 2022, around the time that home was 

vandalized.  As noted above, COCKERLINE does not live in or near Hampstead.  Furthermore, 

the suspect depicted in the Hampstead surveillance footage — a male of average height and build 

 
2 The location data associated with SANIATAN’s phone is inconclusive regarding whether his phone was 
in the vicinity of Victim 2’s residence in Concord around the time it was vandalized.  However, given that 
SANIATAN searched for the address of the Concord residence at approximately 11:36 p.m. on April 24, 
2022, see ¶ 13.c supra, and given the fact that the Hanover and Concord incidents both involved the use of 
a large rock (as opposed to a brick), there is probable cause to believe that SANIATAN is also responsible 
for vandalizing Victim 2’s residence in Concord. 
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— is consistent with COCKERLINE.  Insofar as COCKERLINE used Google to search for the 

address of the Hampstead residence several times between 9:50 p.m. and 11:30 p.m. on May 20, 

2022 (between approximately two and three hours before the Hampstead residence was 

vandalized), there is probable cause to believe that COCKERLINE is responsible for vandalizing 

the Hampstead residence during the early morning hours of May 21, 2022. 

23. Toll records reviewed in this investigation indicate that COCKERLINE’s phone 

received a text message from WASELCHUCK’s phone at 12:45 a.m. on May 21, 2022, around 

the very same time COCKERLINE appears to have vandalized the Hampstead residence.  In 

addition to this text message, the toll records indicate that WASELCHUCK’s phone and 

COCKERLINE’s phone exchanged numerous voice calls between May 18 and May 22, 2022: 

Date Time From To Duration Type 

05/18/2022 3:27:47 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:05 Regular Call 

05/18/2022 3:28:34 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:03 Regular Call 

05/18/2022 3:29:02 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:02 Regular Call 

05/18/2022 3:31:19 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:02 Regular Call 

05/18/2022 4:50:49 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:07 Regular Call 

05/18/2022 4:51:37 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:01:01 Regular Call 

05/20/2022 9:39:43 AM Cockerline Waselchuck 00:00:03 Regular Call 

05/20/2022 7:32:05 PM Cockerline Waselchuck 00:00:02 Regular Call 

May Vandalisms Occur 

05/21/2022 6:17:16 AM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:02 Regular Call 

05/21/2022 7:20:36 AM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:08 Regular Call 

05/21/2022 3:10:01 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:03 Regular Call 

05/21/2022 7:04:34 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:02 Regular Call 
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05/22/2022 3:34:22 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:04 Regular Call 

05/22/2022 3:37:17 PM Waselchuck Cockerline 00:00:08 Regular Call 

 

24. In order to investigate WASELCHUCK’s whereabouts at the time of the May 

vandalisms, the FBI also obtained cellular location data associated with WASELCHUCK’s phone 

from May 20 and 21, 2022.   

25. To begin with, the records reveal that WASELCHUCK and COCKERLINE’s cell 

phones were in the same vicinity in and around Salem, New Hampshire at various times between 

9:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m. on May 20, 2022.  The cellular location data also revealed that 

WASELCHUCK’s cell phone was in the vicinity of Victim 1’s residence in Melrose, 

Massachusetts at approximately 5:50 a.m. on May 21, 2022, around the time that home was 

vandalized. 

26. As described above, Victim 1’s doorbell camera captured video of the Melrose 

suspect: an adult male wearing a blue rain jacket with a hood, a black zipper, a vertical breast 

pocket, a white logo next to the breast pocket, and reflective stripes on each shoulder.  The suspect 

is also wearing a backpack. 

27. The FBI obtained photographs and videos of WASELCHUCK during its 

investigation, including photographs and video of WASELCHUCK captured by an ATM camera 

in New Hampshire on April 2, 2022.  In these photographs and videos, WASELCHUCK is wearing 

a blue rain jacket with a hood, a black zipper, a vertical breast pocket, a white logo next to the 

breast pocket, and diagonal reflective stripes on each shoulder.  He is also wearing a backpack.  
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                         Melrose Suspect                                                            Waselchuck – April 2, 2022 

 
28. Given the similarities between WASELCHUCK’s jacket and the jacket worn by 

the Melrose suspect, the fact that WASELCHUCK’s cell phone was located near Victim 1’s 

residence at the time of the vandalism, and the suspicious cell phone contacts between 

WASELCHUCK and COCKERLINE on and before May 21, 2022, there is probable cause to 

believe that WASELCHUCK vandalized Victim 1’s home in Melrose on May 21, 2022.  

Furthermore, because WASELCHUCK appears to have traveled from New Hampshire (where his 

phone indicates he was at approximately 11:00 p.m. on May 20th) to Melrose to carry out the 

vandalism, there is probable cause to believe that WASELCHUCK traveled in interstate commerce 

with the intent to harass and intimidate Victim 1. 

29. Likewise, there is also probable cause to believe that COCKERLINE traveled 

interstate from Massachusetts to New Hampshire to carry out the Hampstead vandalism on May 

21, 2022.  As noted above, COCKERLINE resides in Salem, New Hampshire, which is along the 

Massachusetts border adjacent to Methuen, Massachusetts.  According to COCKERLINE’s 
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financial records and records produced by Home Depot, COCKERLINE purchased two (2) bricks 

at Home Depot in Methuen, Massachusetts on May 20, 2022, just hours before he and 

WASELCHUCK vandalized the Victim 1’s and Victim 1’s parents’ homes in Melrose and 

Hampstead, respectively.  Location data associated with COCKERLINE’s phone confirms that his 

phone was in the vicinity of the Methuen Home Depot at the time of this purchase.  After 

purchasing the two (2) bricks in Massachusetts, COCKERLINE then traveled to New Hampshire 

and, several hours later, vandalized the Hampstead residence.  There is probable cause to believe, 

therefore, that when COCKERLINE traveled from Massachusetts to New Hampshire on May 20, 

2022, with the intent to harass and intimidate Victim 1 and the immediate family members of 

Victim 1. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

30. Based on the forgoing facts, there is probable cause to believe that: (1) Subject 2—

a known associate of Subject 1—solicited COCKERLINE and SANIATAN on or about April 21-

22, 2022, to vandalize Victim 1’s residence in Concord, Victim 1’s parents’ residence in 

Hampstead, and Victim 1’s former residence in Hanover; (2) that COCKERLINE and 

SANIATAN, in fact, vandalized those three residences on or about April 24 or 25, 2022; (3) that 

Subject 2 solicited COCKERLINE and attempted to solicit SANIATAN on or about May 18, 2022, 

to vandalize Victim 1’s residence in Melrose and Victim 1’s parents’ residence in Hampstead; (4) 

that COCKERLINE recruited WASELCHUCK to assist him in response to Subject 2’s May 

solicitation3; (5) that COCKERLINE and WASELCHUCK, in fact, vandalized the Hampstead and 

 
3 As noted above, I believe SANIATAN was unable to participate in the May vandalisms because he was 
incarcerated. 
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Melrose residences on or about May 21, 2022; and (6) that COCKERLINE and WASELCHUCK 

traveled in interstate commerce with the intent to harass and intimidate the victims. 

31. Therefore, based on the information described above, there is probable cause to 

believe that COCKERLINE, SANIATAN and WASELCHUCK committed the Target Offense.  

The requested Complaint and accompanying arrest warrants for all three men should issue. 

__________________________ 
Robert Erwin 

      Special Agent 
      Federal Bureau of Investigation 

Sworn and subscribed to me telephonically on June ____, 2023. 

_____________________________ 
PAUL G. LEVENSON 
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

Robert Erwin /by  Paul G. Levenson

15thnically yyy ononononononno JJJunu e ___

JUDUUUDU GEGEGEGEGE 

Case 1:23-mj-08245-PGL   Document 4-1   Filed 06/15/23   Page 17 of 17


